UNIVERSITY LIBRARIES

UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones

May 2023

Telehealth in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Saghi Nassrouie

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/thesesdissertations

🔮 Part of the Medical Sciences Commons, Nursing Commons, and the Other Communication Commons

Repository Citation

Nassrouie, Saghi, "Telehealth in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus" (2023). UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones. 4745. http://dx.doi.org/10.34917/36114770

This Dissertation is protected by copyright and/or related rights. It has been brought to you by Digital Scholarship@UNLV with permission from the rights-holder(s). You are free to use this Dissertation in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use. For other uses you need to obtain permission from the rights-holder(s) directly, unless additional rights are indicated by a Creative Commons license in the record and/or on the work itself.

This Dissertation has been accepted for inclusion in UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones by an authorized administrator of Digital Scholarship@UNLV. For more information, please contact digitalscholarship@unlv.edu.

TELEHEALTH IN PATIENTS WITH TYPE 2 DIABETES MELLITUS

By

Saghi Nassrouie

Bachelor of Science- Nursing West Coast University 2014

Master of Science – Nursing University of California, Los Angeles 2018

A doctoral project submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Doctor of Nursing Practice

School of Nursing The Graduate College

University of Nevada, Las Vegas May 2023



Doctoral Project Approval

The Graduate College The University of Nevada, Las Vegas

April 19, 2023

This doctoral project prepared by

Saghi Nassrouie

entitled

Telehealth in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

is approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Nursing Practice School of Nursing

Aaron Bellow Jr., Ph.D. Examination Committee Chair

Susan Van Beuge, D.N.P. Examination Committee Member

Jay Shen, Ph.D. Graduate College Faculty Representative Alyssa Crittenden, Ph.D. Vice Provost for Graduate Education & Dean of the Graduate College

Abstract

Description: Type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM2) is an epidemic that has many factors involved in its management to maintain control. Patients with DM2 require routine evaluations and blood work to provide comprehensive care. COVID-19 caused major shifts in traditional care which sparked an increase in the utilization of technology like telehealth. Telehealth can be an effective tool used to manage diabetes and help attain better glucose control, but its effectiveness during the COVID-19 pandemic warrants further investigation.

Purpose: The purpose of this project was to determine if telehealth visits were more effective in reducing Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) in adult patients with DM2 versus usual care.

Summary: Literature review has shown that telehealth sessions are more effective than usual care in improving HbA1c. The clinic site transitioned from in person visits to telehealth visits to accommodate patients during the COVID-19 pandemic. After transition of the clinic to telehealth, there was no scheduled program evaluation to determine its effectiveness in diabetes management. A retrospective program evaluation was implemented to evaluate the effectiveness of telehealth versus usual care in the management of patients with DM2, which revealed no statistically significant differences.

Clinical implications: There have been few retrospective reviews on the effectiveness of telehealth on diabetes versus usual care, specifically for telehealth programs implemented during the COVID-19 pandemic, therefore it was necessary to evaluate outcomes in relation to usual care to determine effectiveness. Although there were no significant differences in outcomes between telehealth and usual care for DM2 in the study population, telehealth still holds promise as an effective tool in the management of DM2.

Keywords: diabetes, telehealth, retrospective review

iii

Table of Contents

Abstractiii
Chapter I1
Introduction and Discussion of Phenomenon of Interest1
Problem Statement
Usual Care
Telehealth
Significance of the Problem
Purpose Statement
Chapter II 6
Review of Literature
Review of the Literature Supports the Problem Statement and the Significance to Nursing. 7
Synthesis of Available Evidence
Needs Assessment and Description of the Project9
Population Identification9
Identification of Project Sponsor and Key Stakeholders9
Organizational Assessment9
Assessment of Available Resources 10
Scope of the Project
Chapter III

Theoretical Underpinnings of the Project
Theory to Support the Theoretical Framework for the Project
Step 1: Engage Stakeholders12
Step 2: Program Details 12
Step 3: Evaluation Design
Step 4: Gather Credible Evidence
Step 5: Justify Conclusions
Step 6: Ensure Use and Share Lessons Learned
Plan Evaluation
Chapter IV15
Project Plan15
Setting15
Population of Interest
Measures, Instruments, and Activities15
Timeline
Project Tasks and Personnel16
Resources and Supports16
Risks and Threats16
Evaluation Plan16
Chapter V

Summary of Implementation and Results	18
Threats and Barriers to the Project	18
Monitoring of the Project	18
Data Collection	19
Data Analysis	19
Contributions to Nursing	20
Discussion of the Results of the Project	20
Discussion of the Relationships Among the Project Results to Evidence Identified in the	
Review of the Literature and the Theory Underlying the Project	21
Discussion of How the Project Advanced or Improved Nursing Practice or Patient	
Outcomes	22
Potential for Sustainability	23
Utilization and Dissemination of the Results	23
Future Scholarly Activity Resulting From This Project	23
Plan for Dissemination of Results	24
Conclusion	24
References	25
Curriculum Vitae	31

Chapter I

Introduction and Discussion of Phenomenon of Interest

Healthcare is a constantly changing arena of new medical management, practice guidelines and patient care technologies. Patient care technology has seen significant progress, and its use has grown significantly, from the use of diagnostic imaging to electronic documentation. Over the last decade, telemedicine has moved to the forefront of healthcare, especially after the SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) pandemic. Telehealth was originally started to improve access to care for rural and underserved communities, but it has evolved and is now being used in all aspects of care (Gajarawala & Pelkowski, 2020). Due to increasing pressure for healthcare systems and organizations to provide quality care while managing costs, telehealth offers significant advantages. Telehealth can provide access to quality care and resources without higher net costs (Gajarawala & Pelkowski, 2020). Being able to reach a large population without the traditional barriers to care like transit, childcare arrangements, and time off work, makes telehealth an accessible and convenient option. The COVID-19 pandemic challenged many aspects of the healthcare system. In order to continue care for patients with and without COVID-19 safely, both inpatient and outpatient health facilities added telehealth to their everyday practice. Telehealth has increased in use by 38 times since before the pandemic (American Hospital Association [AHA], 2020). This rapid implementation helped to reduce the transmission of COVID-19 to healthcare staff and healthy patients while still allowing for access to quality care (Gajarawala & Pelkowski, 2020).

Continuous access to care is a vital component of healthcare maintenance. In America, 6 out of 10 adults have a chronic disease (CDC, 2021b). Changing modifiable risk factors and making necessary dietary modifications can help prevent most cases of chronic diseases. There

are 5 lifestyle related chronic diseases, of which diabetes ranks among the highest with regard to risks of premature death (Baena-Díez et al., 2016). The increasing incidence of diabetes is a great public health concern, causing tremendous health and financial implications. Type 2 diabetes (DM2) affects over 34 million people in the United States, which is about 10.5% of the population (CDC, 2021a). Over the past 20 years, these numbers have more than doubled as Americans have become more overweight and obese (CDC, 2021a). DM2is the 7th leading cause of death, with medical costs doubled compared to non-diabetics, costing over 300 billion yearly (CDC, 2021a).

Diabetes can lead to many complications including cardiovascular disease, kidney disease, neuropathy, and retinopathy. Typically, adults with type 2 diabetes have routine follow up visits every 3 months with visits ranging from 15 to 20 minutes. If they have more than one chronic disease or other concerns, there is little time for education. About 2.2 million deaths in 2019 were attributed to high blood glucose (WHO, 2021). Diabetes is mostly a self-managed disease, and many factors can contribute to having lack of glycemic control.

Evaluating clinical outcomes is vital to a healthcare facility's performance. It's a necessary step to ensure that patients' healthcare needs are met, and effective interventions are being implemented. Performance indicators help to determine if patients are meeting their treatment goals. When performance indicators fall below target, the healthcare team is informed, and revisions are made to reach performance targets. A key performance indicator for DM2 patients is glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c or a1c). Glycosylated hemoglobin is a blood laboratory test that measures the average glucose levels for the prior three months and is reported as a percentage. The National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) categorizes diabetes performance indicators by grouping patients according to HgbA1c percentage. Diabetes is

considered under good control if the HbA1c is below 9%, and poorly controlled if it is above 9% (National Committee for Quality Assurance [NCQA], 2022). These findings are used to inform the facility and its providers about how well the patients are controlling their glucose. When there's an increase in poorly controlled diabetes percentages this indicates that more needs to be done to aid patients with their diabetes management.

Problem Statement

Usual Care

During the COVID-19 pandemic, healthcare facilities everywhere had to adjust from usual in-person care to telehealth care to limit transmission of the COVID-19 virus. A federally qualified health center (FQHC) in the western United States provided usual care for chronic disease management via 15-minute, one-on-one in-person visits. These usual care visits entailed discussing diabetes and other chronic and acute problems, laboratory review, and medication management. Patients were checked in by the receptionist then waited for the medical assistant (MA) to complete intake. During patient intake, the MA would obtain their vital signs, including blood pressure (BP), heart rate, temperature, weight, and height. After intake, the patients were placed in a treatment room to be evaluated by a provider. The provider would review the history and complete a physical examination, discuss their previous laboratory findings including HbA1c, and evaluate their blood glucose management. Other concerns and chronic diseases would be addressed as indicated. Lab orders and medication refills would be completed with additional laboratory review and discussion to occur in 1-2 weeks when results were available. Follow-up visits occurred every three months to determine progress with HbA1c. Visits sometimes occurred sooner if deemed necessary by their provider.

Telehealth

After the pandemic began, all visits were transitioned to telehealth. Telehealth visits were carried out over the phone for a duration of 15 minutes. Patient check-in was completed by reception over the phone. The call was then transferred to the MA for intake. Telehealth intake included collecting home blood glucose readings and medication refill requests. Upon completion of the intake, the call was transferred to the provider. The provider would discuss home blood glucose management and review the most recent HbA1c findings. Other concerns and chronic diseases would be addressed as indicated. Lab orders and medication refills would be completed with additional laboratory review and discussion to occur in 1-2 weeks when results were available. Patients were advised to follow up in three-month intervals, sooner if necessary. The telehealth visits differed from usual care visits in that the patients were not physically examined, and their vital signs could not be obtained. Otherwise, visits were the same length, and the same information was discussed.

Significance of the Problem

Diabetes is an epidemic that has many factors involved in its management. Patients struggle with managing their disease and making time for medical appointments. Glucose control is vital to prevent diabetes associated complications. Higher glucose levels are associated with shorter life spans, cardiovascular disease, renal disease, and increased risk for developing cancer (Baena-Díez et al., 2016).

The COVID-19 pandemic caused significant disruption in traditional medical care. During the beginning of the pandemic, administration got together and developed a set of guidelines for staff to follow. Patients were only allowed to enter the healthcare facility for lab draws after being a screening. No in-person care was provided.

Transitioning from usual care to telehealth required adaptation. Although telehealth has been used for years, it was never used as extensively as it was during the pandemic. After the transition to telehealth exclusively, there was a unique opportunity to evaluate its effectiveness for the management of DM2 in this patient population. Evaluating the effectiveness of telehealth to determine if it is more or less effective in controlling chronic diseases, like diabetes, is an important component of providing high-quality care. Providers must continuously evaluate all treatment modalities to ensure their patients are receiving quality care.

Evaluating the effectiveness of treatment is an important aspect of providing high-quality care. There are multiple ways to evaluate the effectiveness of implemented programs, including retrospective reviews. Retrospective reviews use management data after program implementation to evaluate program effectiveness. Government agencies and other foundations have supported the use of retrospective review to build evaluation capacity, which essentially conducts evaluations and uses them to improve results (Kidder & Chapel, 2018). One major framework developed by the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) has been used since 1999 and has aided in improving numerous programs throughout the organization. Over the years, the framework has been revised to be applicable to different organizations everywhere. Program evaluation can aid in determining the effectiveness of the program and provide information on ways to improve it.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this project was to determine if telehealth visits are more effective than usual care in reducing HbA1c in adult patients with DM2 through program evaluation. The following question guided the author in the completion of this study. What is the HbA1c in adult patients with diabetes managed via telehealth versus usual care?

Chapter II

Review of Literature

Using a thorough search strategy, articles with relevant data were found regarding the research topic. The keywords used to search for articles in the Cumulative Index of Nursing Allied Health (CINAHL) were: telehealth, telemedicine, office visit, in-person, program evaluation and diabetes. The keywords used to search for articles in PubMed were: telehealth, in-person, face to face, program evaluation, linear regression, and diabetes. The keywords used to search for articles in Medline were: telehealth, telemedicine, face to face, in-person, program evaluation, review and diabetes. The keywords used to search for articles in Cochrane were: telehealth, in-person care, and diabetes. The synonyms for telehealth (telemedicine, telecare, and telepractice) and diabetes (diabetes type 2, diabetes mellitus, and diabetes mellitus type 2) were used interchangeably in all search engines. Synonyms for face-to-face (in-person, in-person care, office visit, appointment, and usual care), and program evaluation (linear regression, review, program review) were also used interchangeably for all search engines.

Through these search outcomes, articles were included if they were of high-quality evidence, including randomized control trials, cohort studies, and reviews. Only articles with a comparison to usual care were kept. Any type of health care provider was accepted, regardless of medical license type or specialty. No country or state was used to exclude an article. Articles with secondary interventions like diet or nutrition counseling were excluded. Articles with systematic reviews or opinions were excluded. After refining through all the search outcomes, 15 articles were found and subjected to full review. Telehealth, including phone calls or video calls, was compared to usual care. The majority of the studies were randomized control trials and used telehealth as the intervention with usual care as the control group. Although usual care was rarely defined in detail, it was typically described as care the targeted patient population would be expected to receive as part of the normal practice (Yorganci et al., 2020). For the purposes of this study, usual care is defined as 15-minute one-on-one in-person visits every 3 months, or sooner if deemed necessary by a provider. The remaining studies were retrospective reviews comparing telehealth visits to routine care visits over a period of time (Levin et al., 2013; Wong et al., 2021; McLendon et al., 2019; Dutta et al., 2021; Tourkmani et al., 2021). Limited studies were found in the U.S. in the last 10 years, therefore most of the studies were from international sites. Four of the studies were carried out in the United States (U.S.), with the remaining studies conducted in Europe and the Middle East (McLendon et al., 2019; Egede et al., 2017; Kobe et al., 2022; Carter et al., 2011).

Eight studies were executed in low socioeconomic communities, similar to the research question population. The remaining studies did not mention the socio-economic status of its patients. Ethnicities varied across the articles, depending on the region in which the study was completed. All articles included patients that had DM2, except for the article by Levin et al. (2013) and McLendon et al. (2019), which included both DM1 and DM2 patients. Sample sizes varied with a range from 40 to 2186 participants, while the studies averaged between 150-300 participants. The mean baseline HbA1c ranged from 7.9-10%, with averages between 8-9%. The length of studies varied from 3 months to 7 years, with the average being held over 6 months.

Review of the Literature Supports the Problem Statement and the Significance to Nursing

The reports from these studies indicated several statistically significant findings linked to the research question. All of the studies had a P value at or below 0.05. All of the studies found a significant improvement in HbA1c, with only 1 study concluding no significant differences between groups (Dutta et al., 2021). All of the studies indicated confidence levels

above 90%. The main type of analysis used in the studies was a linear regression model or analysis of variance (ANOVA). Telehealth sessions were either phone visits or video visits. All studies used HbA1c as primary or secondary outcomes. Several other outcomes were studied including weight loss, low-density lipoprotein (LDL), and blood pressure (Rasmann et al., 2015; Hansen et al., 2017; Wild et al., 2016; McLendon et al., 2019; Warren et al., 2018).

Several studies found unique outcomes. The study by Levin et al. (2013), found high patient satisfaction with the conversion of usual care to telehealth. The study by Kaur et al. (2015), found an increase in quality of life in the telehealth group. Although all studies showed an improvement in HbA1c, 2 studies found an improvement in cholesterol as well (Rasmann et al, 2015; McLendon et al., 2019). Blood pressure was noted to improve in the study by Wild et al. (2016) and McLendon et al. (2019). Interestingly, the study by Hansen et al. (2017), found no improvement in either blood pressure or cholesterol.

Synthesis of Available Evidence

The studies reviewed provided ample data to support the effectiveness of telehealth in managing DM2 patients. The studies that found improvements in HbA1c have some notable similarities. They all involved at least 3 telehealth visits, with one visit held every month. The visits were carried out over a minimum of 3 months, which is necessary to determine the new 3-month average HbA1c. The visits were at least 15 minutes long, consistent with the typical telehealth visits held at the study site.

There was use of a clinic-based provider in all the mentioned intervention arms. Using employees who already work at, and have rapport with, the patients could contribute to patient trust and adherence to the treatment. This familiarity with staff can also increase the likelihood of patients agreeing to participate in the study. Most studies were conducted in underserved

communities, which is an advantageous factor in these studies since the population has a low knowledge base of health (Lazar & Davenport, 2018). This allows for a wider spectrum of learning to occur. The findings in these studies infer that telehealth visits are more, or as, effective as usual care in improving glucose in diabetics.

There was one study that found no difference between groups, but both groups found significant improvement in HbA1c (Dutta, 2021). This demonstrates that telehealth intervention is at least as effective as usual care.

Needs Assessment and Description of the Project

Population Identification

The population consists of patients with DM2 at a Federally Qualified Health Center (FQHC) in the western U.S. All patients who had at least 1 usual care visit prior to their telehealth visits were included and data was monitored over an 18-month period.

Identification of Project Sponsor and Key Stakeholders

Key stakeholders were patients, healthcare providers, clinic administrators, and quality improvement analysts working in the FQHC. All patients with DM2 who had telehealth visits were included. All the adult healthcare providers that see patients in the clinic will be included, totaling 18. The clinical administrators oversaw the project to monitor progress and ensure confidentiality of patient information. The quality improvement analysts aided in extracting and providing the data. They also provided information on previous programs and their outcomes. Visit time frames and usual care follow-up visits were included.

Organizational Assessment

Outcome based performance measures are used currently to evaluate diabetes care measures. HbA1c is considered controlled under 9% and uncontrolled over 9%. No current program evaluation exists to evaluate the effectiveness of telehealth visits versus usual care.

Assessment of Available Resources

Since this was a retrospective review of existing program data, no additional resources were required. The quality improvement analyst that extracted the data is also the quality management manager at the FQHC.

Scope of the Project

The project evaluated data for 6 months prior to the pandemic (usual care phase), 6 months during transition to telehealth (transition phase), and 6 months after transitions to telehealth (telehealth phase). The data included all diabetic patients who had a HbA1c drawn at the clinic. The data was analyzed to determine if there was a significant improvement in HbA1c in telehealth versus usual care.

Chapter III

Theoretical Underpinnings of the Project

Program evaluation has been a long-standing method that dates back to the 17th century, although it has come into more modern development in the 20th century. Program evaluation refers to collecting, analysing, and using data to examine how effective and efficient programs are and to contribute to continuous program improvement (Kidder & Chapel, 2018). One widely used and beneficial framework for program evaluation was developed by the CDC. The Framework for Program Evaluation in Public Health has 6 steps and 4 standards, which guide the process of establishing and evaluating a program (Kidder & Chapel, 2018). The 4 Framework standards commits members to ensure program evaluations are carried out in feasible, useful, accurate, and ethical standards. The Framework steps focus on engaging the stakeholders involved (step 1), describing the program (step 3). The last 3 steps involve gathering credible evidence (step 4), justifying conclusions (step 5), and ensuring use and obtaining feedback on the program (step 6) (Kidder & Chapel, 2018). The continuous flow of the Framework allows for evaluation and feedback on an endless cycle of improvement.

Very few studies on program evaluation in the field of diabetes and telehealth have been done. The study by Wong et al. (2021) and McLendon et al. (2019), showed positive outcomes in program evaluation in the improvement of HbA1c in diabetics. Therefore, future program evaluations can be useful in determining effectiveness of telehealth in diabetes.

Theory to Support the Theoretical Framework for the Project

Based on the evidence the literature review presented, an implementation plan using the Framework for Program Evaluation in Public Health was drafted to evaluate the effectiveness of

telehealth versus usual care in the management of DM2 patients in a FQHC in the western United States.

Step 1: Engage Stakeholders

The first step in the Framework was to engage stakeholders. The stakeholders involved in the program were the patients, healthcare providers, clinic administrators, and quality improvement staff working in the FQHC. These groups were essential to the execution of the plan and needed to be on board. The patients benefited significantly from this project, as it aided in evaluating diabetes management. For healthcare providers it would be providing a beneficial solution for their patients in controlling their diabetes. If the program is successful, it can also later be used to see if its beneficial in aiding other chronic diseases. Having resourceful aids like this can help providers in improving patient healthcare outcomes. Clinic administrators would benefit from positive outcomes of this project by being able to entice future patients to join the clinic. Increases in performance outcomes will be great for the quality improvement staff. FQHC's are incentivized based on performance measures, this can be another positive outcome to discuss with the team and how the funds can be used to provide more resources for the clinic.

Step 2: Program Details

During the second step, the program needs to be described in detail and all stakeholders must agree on the goal and purpose. During this stage there is an opportunity to get individuals excited about the vision with details of a new plan for change. Meetings with discussion of the overwhelming number of patients with uncontrolled diabetes in the clinic (HbA1c >9%) will be held, along with the promising plan to aid in controlling glucose and changing lives. All diabetic patients from the clinic who had an HbA1c drawn in the last year will be included. Diabetic patients meeting the criteria will have data extracted from 2019 to 2021 from all 4 FQHC sites.

Their gender, HbA1c, ethnicity and age will be pulled and represented on an excel data spread. The data will then be analyzed and compared to determine if telehealth visits during the pandemic had a more significant reduction in HbA1c compared to pre-pandemic usual care.

Step 3: Evaluation Design

Step 3, focus the evaluation design, will likely be the most challenging of stages. Ensuring that all the details have been discussed and that individuals are ready and understand the process will be vital. This will be the time to motivate and increase the confidence of those involved, ensuring that they are aware of the purpose and methods of the program.

Step 4: Gather Credible Evidence

Gather credible evidence, step 4, is where the program seen as a whole picture seems credible. Credible evidence strengthens evaluation and can be improved by using multiple procedures for gathering, analyzing and interpreting data (Graetz et al., 2021). The data in this study will be computed and analyzed by a statistician, who is not a part of the FQHC, which helps eliminate bias of analyzation.

Step 5: Justify Conclusions

Justify conclusions, the fifth step, entails that the evidence gathered is justified by all stakeholders. It's agreed upon that the results may be used with confidence before using the evaluation results. The results will be discussed with the team and a group decision will be made.

Step 6: Ensure Use and Share Lessons Learned

The last and final step of the Framework is ensure use and share lessons learned. This step involves strategic thinking and effort to ensure the findings are disseminated appropriately. How will the lessons learned will be communicated to an audience and what things can be done in the future to improve the program are vital in this step. After the results have been evaluated,

the team will discuss the pros and cons of the program. Brainstorming will allow revisions of the program to be made and future programs will be used when indicated.

Plan Evaluation

To evaluate the plan, the HbA1c of all the participants will be checked and compared to baseline. The values will be compared over 18 months (2019-2020) of those who had telehealth and compared to usual care visits. Ethnicity, age, and gender will also be gathered for comparison. The values will then be calculated to determine the significance of change.

The framework presented will aid in applying this program evaluation with the diabetic population. The majority of the stakeholders will not have their routine jobs affected. Those whose daily tasks will be affected will have to assign and delegate some of their usual work to others. Although this may create more work for others, it will be temporary and will be beneficial in the long run. Improvement in glycemic control will allow more performance measures to be met and increased funding will be provided for the clinic. This will allow for a greater budget in hiring more individuals to aid with the implementation of this new program. Also, the program could bring in new patients after word of a successful telehealth program for diabetics gets out.

Chapter IV

Project Plan

Setting

A FQHC in an underserved community clinic in the western United States. The clinic accepts patients with and without insurance. Care is offered starting from newborns to geriatric patients. Services offered include preventive care, acute and chronic disease management, prenatal care, woman's health, and physical examinations. The clinic has a variety of health care professionals including nurse practitioners, physician assistants, medical doctors, and doctors of osteopathy.

Population of Interest

The target population of interest for this study were all patients with DM2. Inclusion criteria were patients who had been diagnosed with type 2 diabetes, aged 18 and older, those who had a visit in person, and an HbA1c drawn prior to the pandemic and during the pandemic. Exclusion criteria were patients under the age of 18 and those who did not have HbA1c drawn prior to or during the pandemic. We used stratified random sampling to select the 60 patients that were included for analysis.

Measures, Instruments, and Activities

Recorded measurements of patients HbA1c, age, and gender were extracted from the database. This quantitative data was extracted from the electronic medical record for analysis. This data was retrieved by entering in the desired characteristics of age, diabetes diagnosis and HbA1c. A total of 60 patients' data were obtained. The data excluded any patient identifiers and was stored securely as a excel spreadsheet. The excel spreadsheet was sent via encrypted email. *Timeline*

Data was collected in the 6-month period, October 2019 to March 2020, prior to telehealth initiation (usual care phase). Data was collected in the 6-month period, April 2020 to September 2020, when telehealth was being initiated (transition phase) and then data was collected during the 6-month period post telehealth transition (telehealth phase), October 2020 to March 2021.

Project Tasks and Personnel

Administration oversaw the entire project throughout the process. The quality improvement manager was involved to extract and provide the patient data. He entered the desired characteristics, excluding patient identifiers, and provided the results on an excel spreadsheet that was stored in a secured email with limited access.

Resources and Supports

Statistician guidance along with the study by McLendon et al. (2019) was used to aid in determining power and number of patients needed. Assuming effect size (d=0.49) based on research (McLendon et al., 2019) power analysis using G-power N=57 would yield 95% power for paired T-test at 0.05 alpha level. Using random, stratified sampling a total of 60 patients was selected and analyzed.

Risks and Threats

There were no associated risks noted with usual care or telehealth in any of the articles. There was the possibility of not having sufficient HbA1c data available during the telehealth phase since patients were wary of coming into the clinic. Data was extracted without any identifiers to ensure privacy.

Evaluation Plan

A total of 60 patients were included in the usual care phase from April to September 2019 and were evaluated and an average HbA1c was obtained for each patient. The same was done for data extracted from patients during the pandemic from April to September 2020. Comparisons between the two groups were made using paired T-tests to determine if there is a significance in outcomes.

Chapter V

Summary of Implementation and Results

Diabetes is a tremendous global health concern. Patients with diabetes need routine follow up care with their providers to aid with control and maintenance of their disease. The COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on the delivery of healthcare. Many individuals feared infection and stayed home instead of seeking care, while others were unaware of safe treatment options. The pandemic led to a significant increase in the use of telehealth. The study site had not previously used telehealth prior to the pandemic. After the pandemic it became a full telehealth clinic with no in-person visits. This created a unique opportunity to evaluate the effectiveness of telehealth compared to usual care in person for patients with DM2. Prior research determined that telehealth led to greater improvement of HbA1c compared to usual care. Therefore, this study was conducted to determine if there were significant differences in the HbA1c in adult patients with DM2 managed via telehealth versus usual care. The results of the study may help evaluate the effectiveness of telehealth for the management of DM2.

Threats and Barriers to the Project

There were no identified threats throughout the program evaluation. A barrier to the initiation of telehealth was the lack of awareness of the staff regarding the benefits of telehealth technology and how to address the needs of the patients. There was no formal telehealth training. The sample size of this retrospective program evaluation was small compared to other similar studies reviewed in the literature.

Monitoring of the Project

This was a retrospective review of existing data and there was no intervention that required active monitoring. This study was conducted due to the changes in care delivery

necessitated by the COVID-19 pandemic. Patient care was transitioned from usual in-person care to full telehealth model. There was no plan to evaluate the effectiveness of telehealth versus usual care in the study population. After literature review found improvement in HbA1c in DM2 patients, it was determined that a retrospective program evaluation could be beneficial in determining the effectiveness of care for DM2 patients during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Data Collection

The program evaluation was approved by the academic institutional review board and FQHC leadership. Data were collected for program evaluation. Demographic data included age and gender. Quantitative data included HbA1c obtained over a 6-month period prior to telehealth initiation in clinic (usual care phase), 6-month transition period (transition phase), and 6-month post transition period (telehealth phase). See Table 1 for descriptive statistics.

Table 1

Descriptive Statistics

	n
Mean Age	59
Male	24
Female	36
Usual Care Mean HbA1c	8.3
Telehealth Mean HbA1c	8.2

Data Analysis

A paired sample t-test was used to analyze the results. This type of testing was chosen due to the number and type of independent and dependent variables in the hypothesis. The independent variable included time (usual care phase versus telehealth phase). The dependent variable consisted of HbA1c. Comparing and looking for the significance between group means of the same group of participants on 2 different occasions led to the use of the paired sample t-test. Therefore, assuming effect size (d=.49) based on prior research (McLendon et al., 2019) power analysis using G-power N=57 would yield 95% power for a paired t-test at .05 alpha level, two-tailed. Using random, stratified sampling, including age, time and gender, a total of 60 patients were selected and analyzed.

Contributions to Nursing

Discussion of the Results of the Project

The results (see Table 2) of the retrospective program evaluation found no significant differences in the HgbA1c in the telehealth phase (M=8.2, SD=.016) versus usual care phase (M=8.3, SD=.017). Paired sample t-test for the 60 patients in usual care compared to telehealth group had an outcome two-sided p-value of .575, where p-value greater than .05 shows significance. Paired sample testing (results not shown) to determine if there were significant outcomes in gender or age were also not significant.

Table 2

Results

	Usual Care	Telehealth	p-value
HbA1c	8.3	8.2	.575

The retrospective program evaluation did not find any significant differences in HgbA1c between the two groups. The study replicated a similar program evaluation study that found significant differences using a longer intervention period (McLendon et al., 2019). ANCOVA and ANOVA including the transition group date (results not shown), found no significant results. Controlling for time, age and gender did not find any significant statistical differences. Future studies using a larger sample size at the study site may lead to statistically significant differences.

Discussion of the Relationships Among the Project Results to Evidence

Identified in the Review of the Literature and the Theory Underlying the

Project

Although literature review showed significant differences in HbA1c for patients who received telehealth versus usual care, those results were not replicated in this study. The telehealth group did have HgbA1c values similar to the usual care group indicating that telehealth was as effective as usual care. The average HbA1c in the usual care group (8.2%) was lower when compared to many of the articles (Mclendon et al., 2019; Rasmann et al., 2015; Hansen et al., 2017; Wild et al., 2016; Lashkari et al., 2013; Egede et al., 2017; Kobe et al., 2022; Carter et al., 2011; Tourkami et al., 2021). This initial lower average could have led to non-statistically significant findings. Reasons for these lower-than-average glycemic numbers in the usual care group may be due to the randomly stratified sampling or to the COVID-19 pandemic. The sample of patients chosen were completely random, leading to the possibility that those chosen had better than average control of their DM2. A few articles had a significant amount of the demographic population consisting of younger adults (Wild et al., 2016; Wong et al., 2016; Mclendon et al., 2019; Kaur et al., 2015; Kobe et al., 2022; Carter et al., 2011; Niccoluci et al., 2015; Tourkami et al., 2021), where the mean age in this study was 60 years old.

The younger demographic can be more engaged in telehealth visits, leading to better adherence and improved glycemic outcomes. Typical clinic visits for patients with DM2 are held once every 3 months, leading to 2 visits in the 6-month telehealth phase. All the articles had at least 5 visits, this may be another reason the results were not statistically significant.

The Framework for Program Evaluation in Public Health created by the CDC can be of valued use for continued improvement. The final step in the cycle is to ensure use and sharing lessons learned. Although the articles in the literature review did not use this theory, they often discuss where there is room for improvement and how future studies can be done after understanding the outcomes. Understanding and using the outcomes of this project will be a resourceful tool for the ambulatory clinic to use. Evaluation can be done to understand where they can improve and how to better carry out another program evaluation in the future. Sharing this information with others will allow opportunities for other institutions to learn from. It can lay out the foundation for others who want to initiate a program evaluation of their own.

Discussion of How the Project Advanced or Improved Nursing Practice or

Patient Outcomes

Although this program evaluation did not find significant differences between the two groups, there are still some pertinent implications for patient outcomes. Telehealth can be utilized for meeting the needs of patients during times of decreased access to care and it can be as effective as care in person. Telehealth has greatly increased in use after the start of the pandemic and is being widely used throughout the country. Learning about various ways where it may be beneficial for the patient and provider to aid with chronic conditions can be very resourceful. Telehealth allows providers to reach patients, regardless of location, and provide care. Being able to reach patients who are too sick to seek in-person treatment or live in rural

areas and cannot travel to seek care is vital. It aids in preventing hospitalizations and increasing access to care. Telehealth studies show great value for healthcare of the future.

Potential for Sustainability

The implementation of telehealth in the ambulatory clinic setting did not result in any significant outcomes. After the rates of infection decreased, the clinic went into hybrid mode. They were continuing with telehealth visits while also seeing patients face to face. Patients were given the option of being seen in person or via telehealth. It was agreed upon to use this type of hybrid setting since the retrospective program evaluation yielded no significant outcomes.

Utilization and Dissemination of the Results

Future Scholarly Activity Resulting From This Project

The program evaluation lays the foundation for future studies to further investigate benefits of telehealth in ambulatory care. Telehealth has increased tremendously in the past years due to the COVID-19 pandemic and desire to prevent spread of the virus. Many studies have shown the benefits of telehealth, especially in improving DM2. Suggestion for future studies include initiation of a formal training session including benefits of telehealth with an implementation protocol. This will allow for staff to be fully aware of expectations prior to initiating the program. Studies may be done in the future with an average HbA1c greater than 10%, similar to the research studies, to determine if significant improvement in HbA1c will be found in patients with uncontrolled DM2. The result of this study allows for future research across various chronic illnesses like hypertension and hyperlipidemia. The ambulatory clinic can continue to allow patients to decide whether they would like to have a telehealth or in person visit for their diabetes management, since results determined glycemic outcomes remained the same regardless of appointment setting.

Plan for Dissemination of Results

After data was obtained from the clinic, a change of practice was completed by the researcher. Communication faltered and the clinic did not respond to attempts to share study results. The program evaluation will be published in an academic database and be available for review. The study will allow for review and consideration by others for future studies to be completed.

Conclusion

Diabetes is a worldwide epidemic, and education is a key component of glycemic control. With the increasing use of telehealth, it opens the door for a more convenient means of healthcare access for patients. Lifestyle and dietary modifications are key components in chronic disease management. Literature review of the articles led to the conclusion that telehealth visits are resourceful in improving HbA1c in patients with DM2. They can not only improve glucose levels but in some cases also improve cholesterol and blood pressure levels. Most of the studies were held in underserved, low health literacy communities, where the greatest necessity for aid with adherence and chronic care management is needed. Being prepared to make change in an organization can be difficult, but the program evaluation framework can aid in carrying out a successful plan. Ensuring to motivate and encourage the team are vital to executing a program successfully. The implementation plan is not only cost effective but feasible to be carried out in many different health settings. Although this retrospective program evaluation yielded no significant results, the adoption of a telehealth program could aid practitioners in better managing their patients and preventing them from acquiring complications associated with uncontrolled diabetes. Many studies have shown success in using telehealth in healthcare and there are implications for future studies to build upon this foundation.

References

American Hospital Association. (2020). *A fresh perspective on where telehealth growth will settle*. <u>https://www.aha.org/aha-center-health-innovation-market-scan/2021-07-20-fresh-</u> perspective-where-telehealth-growth-will

Baena-Díez, J., Peñafiel, J., Subirana, I., Ramos, R., Elosua, R., Marín-Ibañez, A., Guembe, M.,
Rigo, F., Tormo-Díaz, M., Moreno-Iribas, C., Cabré, J., Segura, A., García-Lareo, M.,
Gómez de la Cámara, A., Lapetra, J., Quesada, M., Marrugat, J., Medrano, M., Berjón,
J.,...Grau, M. (2016). Risk of cause-specific death in individuals with diabetes: A
competing risks analysis. *Diabetes Care*, *39*(11), 1987–1995.
https://doi.org/10.2337/dc16-0614

- Cancello, R., Soranna, D., Zambra, G., Zambon, A., & Invitti, C. (2020). Determinants of the lifestyle changes during covid-19 pandemic in the residents of northern italy. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(17), 6287. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17176287</u>
- Carter, E. L., Nunlee-Bland, G., & Callender, C. (2011). A patient-centric, provider-assisted diabetes telehealth self-management intervention for urban minorities. *Perspectives in health information management*, 8(Winter), 1b.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021a, January 12). *Chronic diseases in america*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/resources/infographic/chronic-diseases.htm</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021b, August 10). *Type 2 diabetes*. https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/basics/type2.html

Dutta, A., Mahendru, S., Sharma, R., Singh, A., Jain, A., Jevalikar, G., & Mithal, A. (2021). Video Consultation Versus In-Person Clinic Visit for Glycemic Control in Type 2 Diabetes during COVID-19 Pandemic (VIP-CD Study). *Indian journal of endocrinology* and metabolism, 25(5), 427–431. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/ijem.ijem_347_21</u>

- Eberle, C., & Stichling, S. (2021). Effect of telemetric interventions on glycated hemoglobin a1c and management of type 2 diabetes mellitus: Systematic meta-review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 23(2), e23252. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/23252</u>
- Egede, L. E., Williams, J. S., Voronca, D. C., Knapp, R. G., & Fernandes, J. K. (2017). Randomized Controlled Trial of Technology-Assisted Case Management in Low Income Adults with Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes technology & therapeutics*, 19(8), 476–482. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/dia.2017.0006</u>
- Faruque, L., Wiebe, N., Ehteshami-Afshar, A., Liu, Y., Dianati-Maleki, N., Hemmelgarn, B. R., Manns, B. J., & Tonelli, M. (2016). Effect of telemedicine on glycated hemoglobin in diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 189(9), E341–E364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.150885</u>
- Graetz, I., Huang, J., Muelly, E. R., Hsueh, L., Gopalan, A., & Reed, M. E. (2021). Video Telehealth Access and Changes in HbA1c Among People With Diabetes. *American journal of preventive medicine*, S0749-3797(21)00569-9. Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2021.10.012</u>
- Greenwood, D. A., Blozis, S. A., Young, H. M., Nesbitt, T. S., & Quinn, C. C. (2015).
 Overcoming Clinical Inertia: A Randomized Clinical Trial of a Telehealth Remote Monitoring Intervention Using Paired Glucose Testing in Adults With Type 2
 Diabetes. *Journal of medical Internet research*, *17*(7), e178.
 https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.4112

- Hansen, C., Perrild, H., Koefoed, B., & Zander, M. (2017). Video consultations as add-on to standard care among patients with type 2 diabetes not responding to standard regimens: A randomized controlled trial. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, *176*(6), 727–736. https://doi.org/10.1530/eje-16-0811
- Kaur, R., Kajal, K. S., Kaur, A., & Singh, P. (2015). Telephonic Consultation and follow-up in Diabetics: Impact on Metabolic Profile, Quality of Life, and Patient Compliance. *North American journal of medical sciences*, 7(5), 199–207. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/1947-</u> 2714.157483
- Kidder, D. P., & Chapel, T. J. (2018). CDC's program evaluation journey: 1999 to present. *Public Health Reports*, *133*(4), 356–359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354918778034</u>
- Kobe, E. A., Lewinski, A. A., Jeffreys, A. S., Smith, V. A., Coffman, C. J., Danus, S. M., Sidoli, E., Greck, B. D., Horne, L., Saxon, D. R., Shook, S., Aguirre, L. E., Esquibel, M. G., Evenson, C., Elizagaray, C., Nelson, V., Zeek, A., Weppner, W. G., Scodellaro, S., Perdew, C. J., ... Crowley, M. J. (2022). Implementation of an Intensive Telehealth Intervention for Rural Patients with Clinic-Refractory Diabetes. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 1–9. Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-021-07281-8</u>
- Lashkari, T., Borhani, F., Sabzevari, S., & Abbaszadeh, A. (2013). Effect of telenursing (telephone follow-up) on glycemic control and body mass index (BMI) of type 2 diabetes patients. *Iranian journal of nursing and midwifery research*, *18*(6), 451–456.
- Lazar, M., & Davenport, L. (2018). Barriers to health care access for low income families: A review of literature. *Journal of Community Health Nursing*, 35(1), 28–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07370016.2018.1404832</u>

- Lee, J. Y., Wong, C. P., Tan, C., Nasir, N. H., & Lee, S. (2017). Telemonitoring in fasting individuals with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus during Ramadan: A prospective, randomised controlled study. Scientific reports, 7(1), 10119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-10564-y</u>
- Lee, P. A., Greenfield, G., & Pappas, Y. (2018). The impact of telehealth remote patient monitoring on glycemic control in type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and metaanalysis of systematic reviews of randomised controlled trials. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3274-8</u>
- Levin, K., Madsen, J. R., Petersen, I., Wanscher, C. E., & Hangaard, J. (2013). Telemedicine diabetes consultations are cost-effective, and effects on essential diabetes treatment parameters are similar to conventional treatment: 7-year results from the svendborg telemedicine diabetes project. *Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology*, 7(3), 587– 595. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/193229681300700302</u>
- McLendon, S. F., Wood, F. G., & Stanley, N. (2019). Enhancing diabetes care through care coordination, telemedicine, and education: Evaluation of a rural pilot program. *Public Health Nursing*, 36(3), 310–320. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/phn.12601</u>
- National Committee for Quality Assurance. (2022). *Comprehensive diabetes care*. NCQA. <u>https://www.ncqa.org/hedis/measures/comprehensive-diabetes-care</u>
- Nicolucci, A., Cercone, S., Chiriatti, A., Muscas, F., & Gensini, G. (2015). A Randomized Trial on Home Telemonitoring for the Management of Metabolic and Cardiovascular Risk in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes technology & therapeutics*, *17*(8), 563–570.
 https://doi.org/10.1089/dia.2014.0355

- Prevention of chronic disease by means of diet and lifestyle changes. (2006). *Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries (2nd Edition)*, 833–850. <u>https://doi.org/10.1596/978-</u> <u>0-8213-6179-5/chpt-44</u>
- Rasmussen, O. W., Lauszus, F. F., & Loekke, M. (2016). Telemedicine compared with standard care in type 2 diabetes mellitus: A randomized trial in an outpatient clinic. *Journal of telemedicine and telecare*, 22(6), 363–368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633X15608984</u>
- Tourkmani, A., ALHarbi, T., Rsheed, A., Alrasheedy, A. A., ALMadani, W., ALJuraisi, F., AlOtaibi, A. F., AlHarbi, M., AlAbood, A. F., & Alshaikh, A. A. (2021). The impact of telemedicine on patients with uncontrolled type 2 diabetes mellitus during the COVID-19 pandemic in Saudi Arabia: Findings and implications. *Journal of telemedicine and telecare*, 1357633X20985763. Advance online publication.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633X20985763

- Walker, E. A., Shmukler, C., Ullman, R., Blanco, E., Scollan-Koliopoulus, M., & Cohen, H. W. (2011). Results of a successful telephonic intervention to improve diabetes control in urban adults. *Diabetes Care*, 34(1), 2–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/dc10-1005</u>
- Warren, R., Carlisle, K., Mihala, G., & Scuffham, P. A. (2018). Effects of telemonitoring on glycaemic control and healthcare costs in type 2 diabetes: A randomised controlled trial. *Journal of telemedicine and telecare*, 24(9), 586–595.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633X17723943

- WHO. (2021, April 13). *Diabetes*. World Health Organization. <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/diabetes</u>
- Wild, S. H., Hanley, J., Lewis, S. C., McKnight, J. A., McCloughan, L. B., Padfield, P. L., Parker, R. A., Paterson, M., Pinnock, H., Sheikh, A., & McKinstry, B. (2016). Supported

Telemonitoring and Glycemic Control in People with Type 2 Diabetes: The Telescot Diabetes Pragmatic Multicenter Randomized Controlled Trial. *PLoS medicine*, *13*(7), e1002098. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002098</u>

- Wong, V. (2021). Utilisation of telehealth for outpatient diabetes management during COVID. Internal Medicine Journal., 51(12), 2021–2026. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/imj.15441</u>
- Wu, C., Wu, Z., Yang, L., Zhu, W., Zhang, M., Zhu, Q., Chen, X., & Pan, Y. (2018). Evaluation of the clinical outcomes of telehealth for managing diabetes. *Medicine*, 97(43), e12962. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/md.00000000012962</u>
- Yorganci, E., Evans, C. J., Johnson, H., Barclay, S., Murtagh, F., Yi, D., Gao, W., Pickles, A., & Koffman, J. (2020). Understanding usual care in randomised controlled trials of complex interventions: A multi-method approach. *Palliative Medicine*, *34*(5), 667–679. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0269216320905064</u>

Curriculum Vitae

Saghi Nassrouie, MSN, APRN, FNP-BC

Department of Nursing

University of Nevada, Las Vegas

Las Vegas, NV 89154

Email: <u>Nassrouie.saghi.wcula@gmail.com</u>

Education

University of Nevada, Las Vegas

DNP, Nursing, 2023

University of California, Los Angeles

MSN, Nursing, 2018

West Coast University, Los Angeles

BSN, Nursing 2014